I. INDENTITY OF PETITIONERS. 

Petitioners are Michael Schatz, Dani Kendall; and Joseph Minor, 

as individuals and as class representatives for similarly situated employees 

at Western State Hospital and Eastern State Hospital. 

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION. 

Petitioners seek review of Published Opinion in Michael Schatz, et. al. 

v. State, et. al case Number 42332-4-11 issued November 19, 2013 

Wn. App. __ , __ P .3d __ , 2013 WL 6086908, reversing the Trial 

Court Decision in favor of the employees. ("Schatz Opinion").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

1. Whether the Washington Comparable Worth Statute, RCW 

RCW 41.06.020(5); RCW 41.06.133(10); RCW 41.06.155 

creates a private right of action for employees who are paid 

significantly less than employees holding positions that 

require or impose similar responsibilities, judgments, 

knowledge, skills and working conditions? 

2. Whether the rights afforded by comparable worth statutes 

may be judicially enforced by employees or are solely 

dependant upon legislative action to afford disadvantaged 

State workers a remedy? 



3. Whether the existence of collective bargaining strips any 

1ight the employees have to redress Constitutional equal 

protection violations regarding their pay? 

4. Whether the court erred denying equitable relief to 

employees who are denied comparable pay for comparable 

duties and lack any other adequate remedy at law? 

5. Whether the State waived any challenge to prospective 

relief under 42 U.S.C. §1983 by failing to address the issue 

in its brief? 

6. Whether attorneys' fees should be awarded. 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History. 

Petitioner's filed suit in May 2007. CP 4-13. A class was certified 

in February 2008 CP 234-38. Defendants moved for summary judgment 

on all claims CP 1480-81 and sought discretionary review. CP 1462-66. 

Following a bench trial, the State appealed and the Petitioners cross 

appealed. The Schatz Opinion reversed the trial court. 

B. The Workers pay lags behind those employees with similar 
responsibilities, judgments, skills, and working condition. 
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Petitioners are Psychiatric Security Nurses ("PSNs") and 

Psychiatric Security Attendants ("PSAs"). 1 The Workers oppose the 

practice of paying the Workers substantially lower wages than workers 

performing comparable duties, without the unique burdens of working in 

State mental hospitals' forensic wards. 2 RP 2215. Their comparators 

LPN4s and MHT3s work in non-forensic wards. CP 2215-16. 

The Worker's job classes were created in 1973. Ex. 40. Ex. 27. 

In creating the Worker's classes DSHS' Secretary noted (Ex. 40): 

The particular issue that's being addressed here is probably 
one of the most critical ones in the whole criminal justice 
process, and that has to do with the care and security and 
treatment of some of the most difficult individuals in our 
entire public life, the people that fall in that very vague area 
between sickness and sin, the mentally disturbed offender. 
This is probably one of the most difficult jobs that anybody 
in public or private service can have. It requires a degree 
of sensitivity and skill and exposure to danger of almost 
any job there is ... 

A DSHS representative "explained that the persons now 

performing the work described for these classes are classified as Hospital 

Attendant II and Licensed Practical Nurse 111."3 Ex. 40. The Workers 

1 ("the Workers") 

2 The class was certified for the Workers at Western State Hospital and Eastern State 
Hospital. CP 429-432. 
3 Hospital Attendant was later reclassified as Mental Health Technician, Exhibit 1 RP 
545; Ex. 33 (Licensed Practical Nurse 3 was later replaced by Licensed Practical Nurse 
4. The PSN Comparator Group). 
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were "charged with both the care and security of the residents [in the 

program ... and] because of the added danger involved in dealing with 

felons and the criminally insane," the State increased the pay for these 

Workers above that of the LPN3s and HA2s, aligning their pay with 

Correctional Sergeants and Correctional Officers, respectively.4 Ex. 40. 

PSNs are now paid at salary range 41, Ex. 191, lagging ten salary ranges 

behind Correctional and Custody Officer 3, Ex. 8; PSAs now paid at 

salary range 3 7, Ex. 191, lagging ten salary ranges behind Correctional 

and Custody Officer 2. Ex. 8. PSNs and PSAs are now aligned with 

LPN2s and MHT2s because of the "comparability of the work." RP 535-

38. This change equates PSNs salary class the same as LPN2s. RP 540. 

LPN2s are entry level positions at Western State RP 740, but two years 

experience is necessary to be a PSN. Ex. 34, RP 157, 223. 

The Workers' environment is horrifically dangerous. RP 169-70, 

339-40; 1132-34; 1146-58. Forensic ward security is similar to a prison. 

CP 2221. Workers suffer career ending injuries at the hands of criminally 

insane patients. RP 1134; 1155-57 including the "Easter Sunday 

Massacre." RP 213-220. 

4 Correctional Sergeant is now called Corrections and Custody Officer 3 and 
"Correctional Officer was revised to Corrections and Custody Officer 2" and is now 
called Corrections and Custody Officer 2. CP 4 72; 411. 
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C. Despite prolonged and successful litigation achieving 
higher pay, the Workers' salary ranges now lag far 
behind comparable workers' ranges. 

In 1977 when special treatment programs were moved from 

prisons to state mental hospitals, DSHS re-classified the PSNs and PSAs 

back to lower-paying LPN3 and HA classes. Ex. 4. Prolonged litigation 

followed. After eleven years, the Workers won reallocation to their higher 

paying classifications and back pay. Exs. 4 & 27Ex. 70 .. Class 

representative, Dani Kendall, a LPN4, was reclassified to PSN. RP 237-

38 Ex. 70. Workers classified as LPN4s while the prior reclassification 

dispute was pending, now find themselves paid less than LPN4s. RP 157 

Lyle Quasim, the Secretary ofDSHS yelled at the Union 

Representative, Christina Peterson regarding the order to properly pay the 

Workers RP 630; 661-62 vowing the Workers would never, ever have an 

adjustment in their pay. RP 660-662. Quasim was true to his word. 

During the State's implementation of comparable worth, the 

Workers' pay was not adjusted. RP 477-78. The LPNs and MHTs 

received a pay increases pushing the compensation ofLPN4s and MHT3s 

above the PSNs and PSAs respectively although both groups performed 

comparable duties. RP 479-80, Exs. 37, 38, 39, 189, 190. The Workers' 

duties and responsibilities are the same in 2011 as they were in 1987. RP 

247. There is typically just one LPN4 on each ward for a shift and several 
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LPN2s. All nurses on forensic wards are PSNs with the LPN4 duties. RP 

564-65. 

D. The State's classifications are arbitrary and capricious. 

The State argues that: "According to that [comparable worth] 

methodology, it was actually determined that PSNs and PSAs were being 

overpaid according to the points assigned to their job classification." 

State's Br. at 40. Yet the comparable worth process never studied the 

Workers' positions. RP 503-4; Ex.228. The PSNs and PSAs perform all 

ofthe duties ofLPN4s and MHT3s. CP 2008. The Schatz Opinion says 

Workers did not receive a comparable worth pay adjustment because they 

were "already above the average salary line." Id. at 4. That statement 

misstates the facts in the record. 

In 2002, the Legislature established collective bargaining of wages 

for represented employees. Bargaining began in 2004. RP 615. Salaries 

were then negotiated based on the wage steps their positions were placed 

in after implementation of comparable worth RP 503-4; Ex.228. The 

Workers sought relief from their union for the pay inequities, but were 

ignored. Ex. 72 and 73. 

The trial court, the psychiatric nurse executive and the Schatz 

Opinion found that the PSNs' duties were essentially the same as the 
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LPN4s and that the PSAs' duties were essentially the same as the MHT3s. 

CP 2216. RP 548, 564-67. 

Theresa Thompson, the State's compensation manager, testified 

that the reason PSAs are paid less than MHT3s is: " .. .I guess the fact that 

they've ended up this way is a fact of the system and how, urn, it works." 

RP 491-93. PSN s are paid the same as LPN2s, also because that's just the 

way the system works, but Thompson could not provide another rationale. 

RP 496-97. When asked to state the rationale for paying the PSNs the 

same as the LPN2s, Ms. Thompson finally admitted: "Because that's what 

they're paid. That's -- the work is-That's how they ended up is what it is. 

RP 496-98. Her comment epitomizes arbitrary and capricious conduct. 

Finding of Fact 48 recognizes that the Workers have no 

meaningful and effective method to challenge the Pay Range to which the 

duties of their positions were assigned and any administrative remedy 

would have been non-existent or futile. CP 2016. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals Opinion Eliminates Equal 
Protection Claims for All Union Represented Employees. 

Review should be granted to because the Schatz Opinion reversing 

relief granted to the Workers (1) conflicts with prior precedent of this 

court and the court of appeals; (2) this case involves a significant question 
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oflaw under the Constitution; and (3) the ongoing vitality and 

enforceability of comparable worth statutes is a matter of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 

13.4(b ). 

The Schatz Opinion correctly observed that the appropriate 

designated classes of employees to be reviewed are the PSAs and PSNs 

who are paid less to perform essentially the same duties as the MHT3s and 

LPN4s. Id. at 6-8 The Schatz Opinion correctly rejected the State's 

argument finding that using historical rate setting practices rather than an 

analysis of the employees' duties is not a rational basis for paying the 

Workers less: Id. at 9. Where the Schatz Opinion went wrong was in its 

conclusion that the presence of collective bargaining establishes both a 

rational basis for paying the Workers less for the same duties and creates a 

bar against any avenue to vindicate their uniquely personal rights to equal 

protection, comparable worth and equitable relief. !d. at 9-10. 

In Washington Public Employees Association v. State, 127 

Wn.App. 254, 267, 110 P.3d 1154, 1161 (2005) ("WPEA ''),the court held 

that "wage disparities between state employees who performed essentially 

the same jobs violated federal equal protection guarantees" in a case 

involving pay disparities between classes of unionized employees in the 

state general government and higher education who performed 
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substantially similar work. WPEA, 127 Wn. App. at 257. The Schatz 

Opinion conflicts with that decision. 

WPEA holds an equal protection violation occurs where State's 

failure to equalize basic salaries among State employees who do 

essentially the same work, id., and "that the State's failure to equalize 

basic salary levels bears no rational relationship to the purposes of 

Washington's Civil Service Laws." WPEA, 127 Wn. App. 254, 268, 110 

P.3d 1154, 1161. 

In a similar case, Peterson v. Hanson, 565 F.Supp. 87 (E.D. Wise. 

1983), recon' granted, 569 F. Supp. 694 (1983)(decision unchanged), the 

plaintiffs obtained declaratory and injunctive relief that salaries as court 

reporters violated Equal Protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Pay differences not based on individual reporter skill, experience, or any 

other identifiable reasonable ground denied them equal protection. !d. at 

88-89. 

The Schatz Opinion asserts the Workers' exclusive method to 

secure their Constitutional rights occurs at the bargaining table regardless 

of the complacency, indifference or conflicting interest of their union 

representative or the lack of a rational basis for the pay disparities. 

Under the rational basis test, a court will uphold the government 

action if (1) the government action in question applies alike to all 
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members of the designated class, (2) there are reasonable grounds to 

distinguish between those within and without the class, and (3) the 

classification has a rational relationship to the legislative purpose. WPEA, 

127 Wn. App. at 263. In other words, state action does not violate the 

equal protection clause if there is a rational relationship between the 

classification and a legitimate state interest. State v. Osman, 157 Wn.2d 

474, 486, 139 P.3d 334 (2006) (citing Simpson v. State, 26 Wn.App. 687, 

693, 615 P.2d 1297 (1980)). Courts will uphold State action unless "it 

rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of legitimate state 

objective." Osman, 157 Wn.2d at 486 (citations omitted). Paying the 

Workers less is lawful only ifthere is some basis in reality for the 

distinction between the two classes and the distinction serves the purpose 

intended by the legislature. Id. (italics in original). The State did not 

demonstrate a basis in reality for the disparity in pay and the Schatz 

Opinion did not require a rational basis for the disparity. 

The proper analysis turns to whether reasonable grounds justifying 

paying the PSNs and PSAs less than the LPN4s and MHT3s. Some basis 

in reality must exist for distinguishing between the two classes. Osman, 

157 Wn.2d at 486 (italics in original). 

Noting that there is no Washington case on point, the Schatz 

Opinion side steps the required equal protection analysis of the basis in 
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reality for the pay inequities by saying where there is collective 

bargaining, that process provides a rational basis for pay inequities and the 

courts must not inquire further. Citing NLRB v. Katz, 369 U.S. 736, 82 

S.Ct. 1107, 8 L.Ed.2d 230 (1962), Schatz Opinion improperly relates 

adjustment of pay for equal protection violations with an employer's 

"unfair labor practice" unilateral wage adjustments. Schatz Opinion, pg. 

10, fn. 9. That conclusion conflicts with the law. 

In Hines v. Anchor Motor Freight, Inc., 424 U.S. 554, 562, 96 

S.Ct. 1048, 1055,47 L.Ed.2d 231 (1976) the Court noted the Labor 

Management Relations Act, 1947,29 U.S.C. § 185 contemplates suits by 

and against individual employees as well as between unions and 

employers; and employees may bring suit to vindicate "uniquely personal" 

rights of employees such as wages, hours, overtime pay, and wrongful 

discharge. Smith v. Evening News Assn., 371 U.S. 195, 198-200, 83 S.Ct. 

267, 269-270, 9 L.Ed.2d 246 (1962). 

The Schatz Opinion conflicts with Piel v. City of Fed. Way, 177 

Wn.2d 604, 617, 306 P.3d 879, 884 (2013). The Public Employees 

Collective Bargaining Act (PECBA), RCW 41.56, like the NLRA, 

regulates the subjective conduct and motivations of the parties in a 

collective bargaining situation. Piel v. City of Fed. Way, 177 Wn.2d 604, 

617, 306 P.3d 879, 884 (2013) upheld a public policy wrongful 
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termination right for union activities even where rights are protected under 

the PECBA. PECBA contains a provision, RCW 41.56.905, which states: 

"The provisions of this chapter are intended to be additional to other 

remedies and shall be liberally construed to accomplish their purpose." 

The Schatz Opinion denies the Workers other remedies. While Pie! is not 

directly on point, it recognizes both the unionized workers' private right 

of action and judicial oversight of unlawful employer actions, even where 

there is a collective bargaining agreement. 

Providing the Workers a judicial forum to vindicate their statutory 

and constitutional rights is particularly important where their union 

refused to press or only perfunctorily pressed the individual's claims. 

B. This Court Should Review The Ongoing Vitality of the 
Comparable Worth Statutes and Petitioners' Judicially Enforceable 
Right to Receive "Similar Salaries for Positions That Require or 
Impose Similar Responsibilities, Judgments, Skills, and Working 
Conditions." RCW 41.06.020(5); RCW 41.06.133(10); RCW 
41.06.155. 5 

Two of the three judges held Comparable Worth Statutes, RCW 

41.06.020(5), RCW 41.06.133(1 0) were an anachronistic statutory 

reference to settlement efforts of a lawsuit, are not currently viable statutes 

and they do not afford Petitioner's any judicial enforcement mechanism. 

5 RCW 41.06.155 has been amended several times since this lawsuit was filed. In 2009 
RCW 41.06.155(10) was re-codified as RCW 41.06.1550) 2009 Wash. Legis. Serv. Ch. 
534 (S.H.B. 2049). 
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The record reflects the Workers' positions were not studied for 

comparable worth. PSAs were not evaluated for increase solely because 

they were already making more than MHTs. RP 480-81; 489. The PSNs 

also did not get an increase for the value of their nursing duties. RP 480. 

PSN positions were created out of the LPN3s. RP 508-9. 

"'Comparable worth' means "the provision of similar salaries for 

positions that require or impose similar responsibilities, judgments, skills, 

and working conditions." RCW 41.06.020(5). RCW 41.06.133(10)6 

requires "the rates in the salary schedules or plans shall be increased if 

necessary to attain comparable worth under an implementation plan under 

RCW 41.06.155." (emphasis added). "Increases in salaries and 

compensation solely for the purpose of achieving comparable worth shall 

be made at least annually." (emphasis added). Under RCW 41.06.155. 

The comparable worth statute has not been repealed, despite the State's 

assertion it achieved comparable worth by 1993. 

The Schatz Opinion's dissent correctly asserts Washington's 

comparable worth statutes did not sunset in 1993: 

By its nature, the problem [comparable worth] addresses is not a 
sort of static landscape that can be fixed one time for all. The landscape 
moves. Job descriptions change; some jobs go extinct while other new 

6 RCW 41.06.155 has been amended several times since this lawsuit was filed. In 
2009 RCW 41.06.155(10) was re-codified as RCW 41.06.155(j) 2009 Wash. Legis. 
Serv. Ch. 534 (S.H.B. 2049). 
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jobs unthought-of in 1993 come into being. The marketplace changes, 
whether from wages pressures in some sectors or economic 
transfonnation, like the demise of some industries or the rise of others. By 
its nature, comparable worth is not a steady state once achieved, always 
preserved. Therefore, reading RCW 41.06.155 to impose a continuing 
obligation to serve comparable worth is most in keeping with its purposes 
and definition. 

Schatz Opinion at pg. 22. 

Construction of a statute is a question oflaw reviewed de 

novo. State v. Wentz, 149 Wn.2d 342, 346, 68 P.3d 282 (2003). 

Interpreting a statute discerns and implements the legislature's intent. State 

v. JP., 149 Wn.2d 444,450,69 P.3d 318 (2003). Comparable worth 

statutes are remedial statutes which are entitled to liberal construction, 

with any exception narrowly confined. Hearst Corp. v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 

123, 138,580 P.2d 246 (1978). The judiciary's final say serves is a check 

on the activities of another branch which may take a contrary view of the 

Constitution or statute. McCleary v. State, 173 Wn.2d 477, 269 P.3d 

227 (2012). 

Legislation granting rights to an identifiable class is assumed to be 

enforceable. Washington State Coalition for the Homeless v. Department 

of Social and Health Services, 133 Wn.2d 894, 913, 949 P.2d 1291, 

1301 (1997). Courts evaluating a cause of action the considers: (1) 

whether the plaintiffs are within the class of persons for whose benefit the 

statute was enacted; (2) whether legislative intent, explicitly or implicitly, 
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supports creating or denying a remedy; and (3) whether implying a 

remedy is consistent with the underlying purpose of the legislation. 

Bennett v. Hardy, 113 Wn.2d 912, 919-21, 784 P.2d 1258 (1990). 

Under Bennett, it is presumed the rights are enforceable. 

Aligning pay for the Workers promotes the comparable worth doctrine 

ensuring employees receive similar salaries for positions with similar 

responsibilities, judgments, skills, and working conditions. "[T]he 

legislature would not enact a remedial statute granting rights to an 

identifiable class without enabling members of that class to enforce those 

rights.' "Bennett, 113 Wn.2d at 919-20, (quoting McNeal v. Allen, 95 

Wn.2d 265, 277, 621 P.2d 1285 (1980)). The Workers are "within the 

class for whose 'especial' benefit the statute was enacted." Bennett, 113 

Wn.2d at 920. 

The Schatz Opinion incorrectly ruled that reference in RCW 

41.06.133 to RCW 43.88 for approval by financial administration further 

requires a showing that the Legislature must explicitly approve any 

remedy afforded to Petitioner's before it may be implemented. The 

provisions of RCW 43 .88.030(2)(b) includes: "Payments of all reliefs, 

judgments, and claims." Private rights of action are not foreclosed nor 

does a generic reference to RCW 43.88. mandate a requirement of 

legislative approval to any remedy awarded to the Workers. 
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It is also absurd that the Legislature would adopt a statute that 

identifies a specific class of persons benefited, imposes a duty and 

specifies a remedy but only enacted the legislation as a type oflegislative 

settlement agreement. That step would be unnecessary. This Court 

should review whether comparable worth statutes are more that the 

Legislative embodiment of a settlement agreement as the Schatz Opinion 

asserts. I d. at 13. 

C. The Court of Appeals Opinion Failed to Address 
Petitioners' Equitable Rights and Prospective Rights Under 
42 u.s.c. § 1983. 

The Schatz Opinion did not address the equitable and prospective 

rights of the Workers, possibly because the State never opposed those 

rights in its briefing. Asserting courts are powerless to review anything

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