RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 16, 2014, 3:35 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

#### NO. 89761-1

c

RECEIVED BY EWAIL

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL SCHATZ, DANI KENDALL, and JOSEPH MINOR, as individuals and as class representatives for all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

v.

#### WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES and DEPARTMENT OF PERSONNEL,

Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KARA A. LARSEN Senior Counsel WSBA No. 19247 Labor and Personnel Division PO Box 40145 Olympia, WA 98504-0145 (360) 664-4167 OID No. 91032



##

IV.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE			
V.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
VI.	ARGUM	ENT5		
	A. The Court Should Deny The Petition Because The Court Of Appeals' Decision Regarding Collective Bargaining And Comparable Worth Does Not Conflict With Any Washington Appellate Decisions, Nor Does It Present A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law Or Issue Of Substantial Public Interest			
	1.	Petitioners fail to show a conflict with any existing Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decisions		
	2.	The Court of Appeals decision does not involve a significant question of law under either the United States Constitution or the Washington Constitution7		
		a. The Court of Appeals' equal protection analysis		

i

		b.	The policy behind collective bargaining favors enforcement of the Petitioners' collective		
			bargaining agreements8		
	3.	con	e Court of Appeals decision regarding the aparable worth statutes does not involve an issue substantial public interest		
	4.		itioners' claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 do not rant review by this Court13		
B.	In The Event The Court Grants Review, The Court				
			Find That The Court Of Appeals Erred When It hat The Positions Are Similarly Situated14		
	100	ina 1	hat the rostions are similarly situated		
C.			Event The Court Grants Review, The Court		
	Should Find That The Court Of Appeals Erred When It				
	hat The Statutory Salary Setting Process That Prior To Collective Bargaining Was Not A				
			Basis For Petitioners' Wages		
CO	NCL	LUSI	ON		

VII.

ii

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

## <u>Cases</u>

Braam v. Dep't of Soc. and Health Servs., 150 Wn.2d 689, 81 P.3d 851 (2003)12
Burke & Thomas, Inc. v. Int'l Org. of Masters, Mates & Pilots, 92 Wn.2d 762, 600 P.2d 1282 (1979)
Danese v. Knox, 827 F. Supp. 185 (S.D.N.Y. 1993)
Engquist v. Oregon Dept. of Agr., 553 U.S. 591, 128 S. Ct. 2146, 170 L. Ed. 2d 975 (2008)
Fed. Commc'ns Comm'n v. Beach Commc'ns, Inc., 508 U.S. 307, 113 S. Ct. 2096, 124 L. Ed. 2d 211 (1993)
Ferencak v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn. App. 713, 175 P.3d 1109 (2008)11
<i>Frederick v. Kirby Tankships, Inc.</i> , 205 F.3d 1277 (11th Cir. 2000)
Gallo v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 155 Wn.2d 470, 120 P.3d 564 (2005)11
In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003)
<i>In re Runyan</i> , 121 Wn.2d 432, 853 P.2d 424 (1993)16
Kustura v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 81, 233 P.3d 853 (2010)11
Piel v. Federal Way, 177 Wn 2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013)

Retail Clerks Health & Welfare Trust Funds v. Shopland Supermarket, Inc.,
96 Wn.2d 939, 640 P.2d 1051 (1982)
Schatz v. State Dep't of Social and Health Srvcs., Wn. App, 314 P.3d 406 (2013) 1, 6, 8, 13, 16
State v. Osman, 157 Wn.2d 474, 139 P.3d 334 (2006)
State v. Shawn P., 122 Wn.2d 553, 859 P.2d 1220 (1993)
<i>Trust Fund Servs. v. Heyman</i> , 88 Wn.2d 698, 565 P.2d 805 (1977)9
<ul> <li>W. Wash. Cement Masons Health &amp; Sec. Trust Funds v. Hillis Homes, Inc.,</li> <li>26 Wn. App. 224, 612 P.2d 436 (1980)</li></ul>
Waggoner v. Dallaire, 649 F.2d 1362 (9th Cir. 1981)10
Wash. Fed'n of State Employees v. Office of Fin. Mgmt., 121 Wn.2d 152, 849 P.2d 1201 (1993)
Wash. Pub. Employees Ass'n (WPEA) v. Pers. Res. Bd., 127 Wn. App. 254, 110 P.3d 1154 (2005) 5, 6, 12
Waters v. Churchill, 511 U.S. 661, 114 S. Ct. 1878, 128 L. Ed. 2d 686 (1994) 19
Statutes
42 U.S.C. § 1983
Laws of 2002, ch. 354
Laws of 2011, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 43, § 4011
RCW 41.06.150

έ

RCW 41.06.152	
RCW 41.06.160	
RCW 41.80	
RCW 41.80.020	
RCW 49.32.020	
RCW 49.36.010	

# <u>Rules</u>

RAP 13.4(b).		 1	, 3, and 20
RAP 2.5		 	
	•		

# **Other Authorities**

www.ofm.wa.gov/labor/agreements/13-15/wfse.pdf......1

v

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENTS

Respondents, the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services (Department) and Department of Personnel,<sup>1</sup> ask this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review, entered in the Court of Appeals, Division Two.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' decision is attached to the Petition for Review. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is published at *Schatz v. State Dep't of Social and Health Srvcs.*, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_, 314 P.3d 406 (2013).

#### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Petition does not meet the standards for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). However, if the Court should take review, the issues would be:

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding that substantial evidence supported the trial court's findings that the duties of Petitioners are essentially the same as the duties of civil ward employees?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeals err as a matter of law in holding that the State's statutory system for establishing civil service employee compensation is not a rational basis for differences in salaries?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Department of Personnel was abolished as of October 1, 2011, and its duties transferred to the Department of Enterprise Services and the Office of Financial Management. Laws of 2011, 1st Ex. Sess., Ch. 43, § 401.

#### IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners are Psychiatric Security Nurses (PSNs) and Psychiatric Security Attendants (PSAs) employed by the Department at the two state psychiatric hospitals. In their Complaint, originally filed in May 2007, Petitioners sought an increase in their base salaries. The PSNs sought to be paid equivalent to the Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN) 4 job classification and the PSAs sought to be paid equivalent to the Mental Health Technician (MHT) 3 job classification. Petitioners based their claim for a higher salary on the equal protection clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, the privileges and immunities clause of Article I, section 12 of the Washington State Constitution, and two state civil service statutes referencing "comparable worth."

Under the Personnel System Reform Act, passed in 2002, the State began bargaining the wages of state employees represented by labor organizations. Laws of 2002, ch. 354, codified at RCW 41.80. The Petitioners have at all times relevant been represented by a labor organization, the Washington Federation of State Employees (Union). *See* Trial Exhibits (Ex.) 219-221. Bargaining with the Union began in February 2004. Report of Proceedings (RP) at 615. The collective bargaining agreement that resulted from that bargaining went into effect on July 1, 2005, and covered the July 1, 2005 through June 30, 2007

biennium. See Ex. 219. Subsequent contracts were negotiated, covering the 2007-2009 and the 2011-2013 biennia. See Exs. 220, 221.<sup>2</sup> Under the collective bargaining agreements, LPN2s and PSNs are in salary range 41, which currently has a top annual salary of \$43,572; and LPN4s are in salary range 44, which currently has a top annual salary of \$47,016. MHT3s are in salary range 39, which currently has a top annual salary of \$41,508. PSAs are paid one salary range more than MHT2s – salary range 37, which currently has a top annual salary of \$39,516.

Before the State began bargaining represented employees' wages, the Legislature set the salaries of all civil service employees through a process laid out in statute requiring the Department of Personnel to conduct salary surveys and allowing for increases in salary for individual job classifications if four criteria set forth in statute were met. All proposed salary increases resulting from these statutory methods were subject to approval by the Office of Financial Management and funding by the Legislature.

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioners have not demonstrated that review is warranted under the standards set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The Court Of Appeals' decision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parties are currently governed by the 2013-2015 collective bargaining agreement. See Wash. Fed'n of State Employees 2013-15 Collective Bargaining Agreement, <u>www.ofm.wa.gov/labor/agreements/13-15/wfse.pdf</u> (last visited Jan. 16, 2014).

that collective bargaining is a rational basis for differences in salaries does not conflict with any Washington appellate decisions, nor does it involve a significant question of constitutional law. Under rational basis scrutiny, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there is no equal protection violation because adhering to collective bargaining agreements is a legitimate state interest.

Further, the Court of Appeals' decision that Petitioners have no remedy under the comparable worth statutes does not present an issue of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the comparable worth statutes do not create a private cause of action, and that, even if they did, there is no remedy because the Petitioners cannot show that the director of personnel and director of the Office of Financial Management would have approved a salary increase and that the Legislature would have funded an increase. Consequently, the Petition does not merit review by this Court.

In the event the Court accepts review, the Court should find that the Court of Appeals erred in finding that substantial evidence supported the trial court's finding that Petitioners' positions have at all relevant times been similarly situated to LPN4s and MHT3s. The Court of Appeals also erred as a matter of law in finding that the statutory process the Legislature established to set the salaries of civil service employees did not satisfy the rational basis test under equal protection analysis.

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Court Should Deny The Petition Because The Court Of Appeals' Decision Regarding Collective Bargaining And Comparable Worth Does Not Conflict With Any Washington Appellate Decisions, Nor Does It Present A Significant Question Of Constitutional Law Or Issue Of Substantial Public Interest.

#### 1. Petitioners fail to show a conflict with any existing Supreme Court or Court of Appeals decisions.

Petitioners argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the Court of Appeals decision in *Wash. Pub. Employees Ass'n (WPEA) v. Pers. Res. Bd.*, 127 Wn. App. 254, 110 P.3d 1154 (2005), and this Court's decision in *Piel v. Federal Way*, 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013). There is no conflict with either of these decisions.

WPEA took place prior to the advent of full scope collective bargaining of wages. Although the employees were represented by unions, the unions had no authority to bargain base salaries until the PSRA mandated such bargaining. There is no conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in this case because the employees' wages at issue in WPEA were not determined through collective bargaining. There was no issue in that case regarding the role of collective bargaining in the determination of salaries of allegedly similarly situated employees.

Further, the issue in WPEA involved a legislative enactment mandating the equalization of base salaries for job classifications that

existed in two different personnel systems – higher education and general government. *WPEA*, 127 Wn. App. at 258. After the Department of Personnel identified the common classes in the two systems that needed to be addressed, the Legislature repealed its earlier direction that the salaries be equalized. *Id.* at 258-59. Petitioners' cite to the *WPEA* court's holding that the State's failure to equalize the base salary levels bore no rational relationship to the purposes of the civil service laws. However, the Court of Appeals in this case found that the State's actions are rationally related to the legislative purpose of the collective bargaining laws and rationally related to the State's interest in abiding by its collective bargaining agreements. *Schatz*, 314 P.3d at 413. This case and the *WPEA* case involve different laws and different State interests. Thus, there is no conflict with existing precedent of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioners also argue that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with this Court's recent decision in *Piel. Piel* is not on point, which Petitioners concede. *See* Petition at 12. *Piel* involved the viability of the tort of wrongful termination in violation of public policy where statutory remedies are available through the Public Employment Relations Commission. It did not involve collective bargaining or wages that were specifically bargained by the union and the employer and accepted by the employees through their ratification of the collective bargaining agreement.

Petitioners conclude this section of the Petition with the claim that, "Providing the Workers a judicial forum to vindicate their statutory and constitutional rights is particularly important where their union refused to press or only perfunctorily pressed the individual's claims." Petition at 12. This is really the core of Petitioners' case from the beginning. Unhappy with their union representation, Petitioners brought this lawsuit. However, the appropriate recourse was a suit against the Union for violation of the duty of fair representation. *See, e.g., Allen v. Seattle Police Officers' Guild*, 100 Wn.2d 361, 374, 670 P.2d 246 (1983) (public employees' union is obligated to fairly represent the interests of all its members).<sup>3</sup> Petitioners directed their ire at the wrong party.

# 2. The Court of Appeals decision does not involve a significant question of law under either the United States Constitution or the Washington Constitution.

# a. The Court of Appeals' equal protection analysis is neither remarkable nor novel.

Under rational basis review, a state action is constitutional if: (1) it applies alike to all members of the designated class; (2) there are reasonable grounds to distinguish between those within and without the class; and (3) the classification has a rational relationship to the state's purpose. *WPEA*, 127 Wn. App. at 263. The burden is on the challenging party to show that the classification is purely arbitrary. The Court of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Nevertheless, there are numerous valid reasons for the Union to forego pursuing wage increases for certain employees in exchange for other contractual benefits.

Appeals correctly found that Petitioners failed to meet their burden of proof. The Court of Appeals noted that the Petitioners did not provide any authority stating that collective bargaining is not a rational basis for determining salary rates. *Schatz*, 314 P.3d at 413.

A court must uphold a classification if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification. *Fed. Commc'ns Comm'n v. Beach Commc'ns, Inc.*, 508 U.S. 307, 313-15, 113 S. Ct. 2096, 124 L. Ed. 2d 211 (1993) (where there are plausible reasons for the action, the inquiry is at an end.). Courts "will uphold State action unless 'it rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of legitimate state objective." *State v. Osman*, 157 Wn.2d 474, 486, 139 P.3d 334 (2006) (quoting *State v. Shawn P.*, 122 Wn.2d 553, 560-67, 859 P.2d 1220 (1993)). The Court of Appeals concluded that it is reasonable for the State to pay employees what their union has bargained for them to be paid. This obvious proposition does not create a significant question of Constitutional law requiring review by this Court.

#### b. The policy behind collective bargaining favors enforcement of the Petitioners' collective bargaining agreements.

The right of employees to organize and negotiate the terms and conditions of their employment has been codified in Washington for nearly a century. RCW 49.36.010. In 1933, the Legislature declared it the

public policy of Washington that workers have full freedom to organize and to negotiate the terms and conditions of employment. RCW 49.32.020. In *Burke & Thomas, Inc. v. Int'l Org. of Masters, Mates* & *Pilots*, 92 Wn.2d 762, 771-72, 600 P.2d 1282 (1979), the Court noted the proliferation of statutory schemes addressing collective bargaining for public employees.

Representation of public employees is increasingly dominated by statutory schemes for collective bargaining and dispute resolution. Our own Code reflects this development, containing a multitude of statutes with both specific and general applicability to various groups of public employees. . . . The goal of these statutes can be seen to be the achievement of labor peace.

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